1977

State of Utah v. Gayle Lee Boone : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action on a foreign divorce decree to enforce payment of arrearages in support obligations.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial court found the plaintiff-respondent entitled to judgment against the defendant-appellant in the amount of \$11,220.65.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-appellant claims that the decision of the trial court was erroneous in that the plaintiff-respondent had assigned her rights to the cause of action, and was not entitled to bring it or to have judgment thereon.

FACTS OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-respondent Mrs. Crompton¹ and defendant-appellant Robert Crompton were divorced by a decree of the

¹Mrs. Crompton has remarried and is known as Mrs. Booth, but for clarity will be referred to as Mrs. Crompton.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinn Early Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Clackamas County, Oregon, Court, filed July 9, 1969. (R. 46). The decree provided for payment by Robert Crompton of \$150.00 per month child support. (R. 47).

This amount was reduced to \$100.00 per month on February 1, 1974. (Exhibit 1). Though Mr. Crompton was irregular in making payments, he paid a substantial amount, exhibited by his receipts and by a copy of a payment record kept by the Oregon Court. (Exhibits 4 and 1). Mrs. Crompton sought judicial enforcement of present support payments several times, but never sought payment of delinquencies. (T. 5:30-6:7).

During this period of time, Mrs. Crompton received welfare payments for support from the State of Oregon. (R. 7:22-26). This was apparently done under the Oregon URESA program (Uniform Reciprocal Support Act, O.R.S. Chapter 110) since Mr. Crompton was then required to make his support payments to the clerk of the county court. (See Exhibit 1). Mrs. Crompton testified that she assigned all her rights to support payments to the state of Oregon. (R. 8:8-18). This is consistent with URESA practice. See O.R.S. §110.081 and Utah Code Ann. 77-61a-8.

The defendant-appellant Robert Crompton has continuously maintained that Mrs. Crompton cannot sue to recover the obligation assigned to the State of Oregon. In his Answer, he stated:

Defendant affirmatively alleges that if,
in fact, there is any sum of money unpaid

by the defendant to the plaintiff, that the plaintiff has duly and regularly assigned all of her right, title, and interest in and to that payment to the State of Oregon and that the plaintiff has no further right, title, or interest in and to her alleged claim. (R. 31).

In examination of Mrs. Crompton at trial, defendant pursued this theory, and elicited an admission of the assignment.

Q. [Mr. Lewis] And when did you go off receiving assistance?

A. [Mrs. Crompton] I think in January-February, because I started a work program in which I was going to college, which now I am still working under a program.

Q. January or February of this year?

A. Yes, because I have been in this school for nine months, almost.

Q. Is it safe to say then that up till that time all the rights you had have been assigned to the State of Oregon while you are receiving assistance?

A. That the support payments were, yes.

(R. 8:8-18)

Though the court found against the defendant-appellant on the effect of the assignments, defendant again raised the issue in objecting to the proposed findings of fact:

Defendant objects to the Court's Finding No. 5 upon the grounds and for the reasons that the uncontradicted testimony of the plaintiff was that she had assigned all of her interest in and to the support payments, thereby leaving her not a proper party to the herein action and having no interest therein. (R. 45).

and also in objecting to the conclusion of law:

Defendant objects to the Conclusion of Law of the Court since the Conclusions are not based upon the facts as presented to the Court, that the plaintiff, by her own testimony, stated that all of her right, title and interest has been assigned to the State of Oregon and that she is not a proper plaintiff, and that the complaint should be dismissed. (R. 46).

Nevertheless, the court found:

That the plaintiff is entitled to judgment against the defendant in the amount of \$11,220.65. (R. 28, Conclusion ¶2).

The court handled the assignment issue in the following manner:

. . . the State of Oregon may be entitled to all or a part of this judgment and if so, the State of Oregon would be entitled to an appropriate assignment from this plaintiff in that amount.

Appellant maintains that the lower court acted against the weight of the evidence in failing to find an assignment and manifestly misapplied the law in failing to bar Mrs. Crompton from asserting claims in which she had no interest.

POINT I

THE SCOPE OF JUDICIAL REVIEW ENCOMPASSES BOTH FACTUAL AND LEGAL ISSUES.

In equitable actions appellate review traditionally encompasses both the law and the facts. This broad scope of review is warranted because the original trial involved no finder of fact other than a judge, so the appellate court may easily place itself in the position of the trier of

fact, which is not possible in review of jury trials. Some jurisdictions have even adopted a trial de novo review of equity cases in their supreme courts. See e.g., Smith v. Vehrs, 242 P.2d 586 (Ore. 1952).

Utah, while not providing for a trial de novo procedure in equitable proceedings, does provide for appellate review of the record on both legal and factual issues. This scope of review of equity cases is founded in the Utah Constitution.

The appeal shall be upon the record made in the court below. . . In equity cases the appeal may be on questions of both law and fact. . . (Utah Const. art. 8, §9).

Essentially the same language is found in Rule 72(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

In equity cases the appeal may be on questions of both law and fact.

Thus, where the decision below was bottomed in equity and where the appellant questions the findings of fact, it is the duty of the appellate court to review the accuracy of both the findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Under Article VIII, Section IX, Constitution of Utah, it is both the duty and prerogative of this court in an equitable action to review the law and the facts and make its own findings and substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Mitchell v. Mitchell, 527 P.2d 1359, 1360 (Utah 1974)).

See also Tripp v. Bagley, 74 Utah 57, 276 P. 912, 69 A.L.R. 1416 (1928).

That this Court has such broad review power is evidenced by the customary appellate disposition of equity cases where the evidence is not found lacking. Generally, this Court has not remanded equity cases after appellate review, but rather has entered or directed judgment.

In view, therefore, that this is purely an equitable proceeding which comes to this court upon questions of both law and fact, we have the power, and it is our duty, to either make findings and render judgment in accordance with the facts and the law applicable thereto, or direct that such findings and judgment be made and entered by the court below. (Johnson v. Seagull Inv. Co., 65 Utah 424, 237 P. 945 (1925).

See also St. George and Washington Canal Co. v. Hurricane Canal Co., 93 Utah 262, 72 P.2d 642 (1937). As was stated in a recent Oklahoma case, Matter of Reyna, 546 P.2d 622, (Okla. 1976):

In a case of equitable cognizance, the Supreme Court may weigh the evidence and enter such judgment as the trial court should have rendered. (546 P.2d at 625).

Entry of judgment by the appellate court is made following the review of equity cases because the appellate court has full power to find the facts, make conclusions of law, and enter judgment. Of course, where the court feels there is more necessary evidence available, not in the record, it may remand for further taking of evidence, either retaining the case for proceedings after the further evidence is gathered or remanding it entirely for both findings and conclusions in the lower court.

Appellant contends that the finding relating to the assignment does not reflect the testimony at trial. For this reason, review of the factual finding as well as the legal conclusion, as to the effect of the assignment is sought by the appellant.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE UNEQUIVOCALLY INDICATES AN ASSIGNMENT.

The trial court refused to make an unequivocal finding as to the assignment in favor of the State of Oregon, saying only that if such an assignment existed, the State of Oregon would be entitled to an assignment in its favor.

The unequivocal, uncontradicted evidence was that such an assignment existed. In fact, the respondent herself gave this testimony. (T. 8:8-18). In the absence of any evidence to contradict the testimony of assignment, it was clearly improper to enter the equivocal finding. As stated in Corbet v. Corbet, 24 Utah 2d 378, 472 P.2d 430 (1970) this court will reverse factual findings of the trial court when those findings are clearly preponderated against the evidence in the record. Surely, where the trial court has declined to find an assignment in the face of a clear admission of an assignment, this court should reverse the lower court's finding.

POINT III

THE COURT MANIFESTLY MISAPPLIED THE LAW TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

In light of the clear testimony of an assignment, it was manifestly improper for the trial court to allow judgment for the plaintiff-respondent in the amount of all the arrearages, including claims assigned to the State of Oregon.

A. An Assignor is not entitled to sue on assigned claims.

The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure require that actions be "prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest". U.R.C.P. 17(a). This requirement has a long history in Utah law. In Wilson v. Kiesel, 9 Utah 377, 35 P. 488 (1894) this court noted that Utah statutes required "that every action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." 35 P.2d at 491, citing 2 Comp. Laws of Utah 1888 §3169. That case held that an assignor had no right to prosecute an action on an assigned claim.

That the assignee of a claim is the proper party to bring suit is affirmed in Lynch v. MacDonald, 12 Utah 2d 427, 367 P.2d 464 (1962). The reason for this rule is that an assignor has no further interest in the claim, and having received a valuable consideration for making the assignment, would be unjustly enriched if permitted to recover on a claim after having assigned it. The policy of the rule is especially applicable in this present case, where Mrs. Crompton has received support payments from the State of

Oregon in return for her assignment, and now seeks to recover arrearages for which the State of Oregon has made compensation. The State of Oregon has the right to those claims.

For an example of a case in which courts have barred assignors from suit, see Acme Blackshop Paving Co. v. Brown & Matthews, Inc., 31 A.D.2d 1042, 294 N.Y.S.2d 826 (1968).

Clearly, an assignor is not entitled to maintain an action on a claim in which the assignor has no interest.

B. Respondent assigned her rights to support prior to January, 1976, to the State of Oregon.

Respondent, by her own testimony, assigned her rights to support payments prior to January, 1976, to the State of Oregon, in return for state assistance payments. (R. 8:8-18) The right assigned was founded on the divorce decree filed July 9, 1969, and as modified February 1, 1974. Under the decree, periodic payments were to be made to the respondent Mrs. Crompton. In such a continuing obligation the right is not to be a lump sum but to the recurrent installments. The obligation can best be viewed as several obligations, with due dates falling monthly, one after another. While Mrs. Crompton is entitled to payments not assigned, she is not entitled to payments assigned, during her receipt of state payments. By her own admission she assigned all payments prior to January, 1976.

In a similar case, where there was an assignment of

assignor, this Court has adhered to the rule that the assignee is the proper party to sue on the assigned claims. Chesney v. District Court of Salt Lake County, 99 Utah 513, 108 P.2d 514 (1941). That rule should apply in this case.

C. Respondent is not entitled to amounts accrued prior to January, 1976.

Clearly in light of the admission of assignment, and in light of the law stating that an assignor has no right to bring an action on an assigned claim, it is manifestly apparent that the lower court misapplied the law to these facts. Where such is the case, this Court may correct the judgment below. See Elton v. Utah State Retirement Board, 28 Utah 2d 368, 503 P.2d 137 (1972) for a statement of this rule.