1978

State of Utah v. Gayle Lee Boone : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action on a foreign divorce decree to enforce payment of arrearages in support obligations.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial court found the Plaintiff-Respondent entitled to judgment against the Defendant-Appellant in the amount of Eleven Thousand Two Hundred Twenty Dollars Sixty Five Cents (\$11,220.65).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent JoAnn Booth and Appellant Robert Crompton were divorced by a decree of the court of Clackamas County, Oregon, filed July 9, 1969. The divorce decree ordered the Appellant to make child support payments of One Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$150) each month, this amount being reduced to One Hundred Dollars (\$100) each month on February 1, 1974.

The Appellant has failed to make the majority of the required payments as ordered by the Oregon court at the time of the decree, and as a partial result thereof, Respondent was forced to seek public assistance from the State of Oregon. In accepting aid, Respondent assigned a portion of her rights against the Appellant to the State of Oregon, permitting it to recover an amount equal to that amount paid by that state to the Respondent.

The Respondent, as the real party in interest, brought suit in this state against the Appellant to recover the amount due under the divorce decree granted by the Oregon court in 1969. Under the full faith and credit clause of the United States Constitution, and under the Utah Uniform Reciprocal Enforcement Support Act, UCA 77-61a-1 et seq. (1953 as amended), the District Court below held for the Respondent, finding that she was entitled to a judgment against Appellant in the amount of \$11,220.65. '

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE RESPONDENT MADE ONLY A PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF HER RIGHTS TO RECOVER FROM THE APPELLANT TO THE STATE OF OREGON.

Under the laws of the State of Oregon, where the state has made public assistance payments to any recipient, the state is authorized in attempting to recover an amount equal to that paid by the state from anyone who has an obligation to provide support for the recipient and who has failed to do so. In the case of a relative with the obligation of support, the state may seek recovery and the recipient is deemed to have consented to the attempted recovery by accepting the assistance payment. ORS § 418.042 (1975). In the case where a non-relative has incurred an obligation of support, by judicial decree or otherwise, to a person who subsequently applies for public assistance, before the state will make any assistance payments, the potential recipient must assign to the state, the right to recover from the obligor an amount equal to the amount of public assistance received by the recipient, to the extent of the obligor's obligation.

Where public assistance has been given, the state may only attempt to recover from the obligor an amount equal to the assistance payments and no more. This is evidenced by the language of the Oregon Statute which permits the recovery against the recipient's relatives: "However, by accepting such public assistance, the recipient thereof shall be deemed to consent to the recovery of an amount equal thereto from any responsible living relative by the

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services under the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

division elipse." ORS § 416.260 (1975) (emphasis added)

The state may recover from an obligor only an amount equal to that which was given as public assistance. Where the recipient of the assistance assigns his or her right to support to the state, that assignment does not constitute a total assignment of all rights pertaining to the support obligation; rather, the assignment is merely a partial assignment, transferring only the right to that portion of the obligation that is necessary to repay the state for its outlay to the recipient.

In the case at bar, the Respondent made such a partial assignment of her rights to support by giving the state the right to recover from the obligor an amount equal to the amount of the assistance payments received by the Respondent. The right to the excess of the obligation of support owed by the obligor, in this case, the Appellant, over the amount paid by the state of Oregon to the Respondent remains with the Respondent.

POINT II.

THE RESPONDENT IS THE REAL PARTY IN INTEREST AND IS THEREFORE ENTITLED TO BRING SUIT TO RECOVER THE OBLIGATION OWED BY THE APPELLANT.

Although the general rule is that an assignee is the real party in interest and is entitled to maintain any action relating to the assigned matter, Lynch v. McDonald, 12 Utah 2d 427, 367 P.2d 464 (1962), an exception to that principle holds that where only a part of an entire claim or debt is assigned, for the purpose of determining the real party in interest, the

cause will be treated as a single cause of action, and the assignor is the proper party to maintain the action. Hoepfner Construction Company v. United States For Use of Mangum, 287 F.2d 108 (C.A. Colo. 1960), Archibald v. Midwest Paper Stock Company, 158 N.W.2d 739 (Iowa 1968), Ridgeland Box Manufacturing Company v. Sinclair Refining Company, 82 F. Supp. 274 (D.C.S.C. 1949).

The respondent assigned only a portion of her claim against the Appellant to the State of Oregon; therefore, she is still the real party in interest and may bring suit on her own behalf against the Appellant for the total amount of the obligation.

POINT III.

THE RIGHTS OF THE STATE OF OREGON NEED NOT BE DETERMINED BY THIS COURT AT THIS TIME.

Although the Respondent is entitled to bring this action and may be awarded the entire amount of the obligation, it is clear that the State of Oregon is legally entitled to a portion of the amount recovered. However, the State of Oregon, having full knowledge of this proceeding and the action brought in the Court below, has chosen not to become a party in this case, although permitted to do so under Rule 20 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, UCA (1953 as amended). That rule states that:

[A]ll persons may join in one action as plaintiffs if they assert any right to relief jointly, severally, or in the alternative, in respect of or arising out of, the same transaction, occurrence or series of transactions or occurrences, and if any question of law or fact come to all of them, will arise in the action.

Since the State of Oregon is not a party to this action, it being precluded by choice, rather than by failure to receive adequate notice, this Court need not determine the rights of the State of Oregon at this time.

Notwithstanding the fact that the rights of the State of Oregon will not be determined in this proceeding, the interest of that state is adequately protected. The Respondent has informed the State of Oregon of this action which she has brought, and a just and equitable settlement is currently being worked out. In addition, the State of Oregon may at any time proceed directly against the Respondent in the courts of that state for any amount owed by the Respondent to that state. Suit in Oregon, if needed, would be more convenient for both the State of Oregon and the Respondent, and the position of that state would be in nowise weakened as a result of foregoing its right to join in this proceeding. Although the State of Oregon's right to recover is not being determined by this Court, that right is nevertheless adequately protected.

CONCLUSION

At the time the Respondent sought assistance from the State of Oregon, she assigned to that state the right to recover from the Appellant, an amount equal to any amount paid by that state to the Respondent. Since the Respondent made only a partial assignment of her rights, she is still the real party in interest and is entitled to recover from the Appellant the total obligation remaining unpaid. The State of Oregon, choosing not to become a party in this case, will settle its claims with the Respondent in another forum. Therefore, the Respondent respectfully requests that the decision of the District Court below be affirmed.